# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICIAL CODE

# TITLE 28. COMMERCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND TRANSACTIONS.

CHAPTER 39.
CONSUMER PROTECTION PROCEDURES.

2001 Edition

# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICIAL CODE CHAPTER 39. CONSUMER PROTECTION PROCEDURES.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

§ 28-3901. Definitions and purposes.
§ 28-3902. Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs as consumer protection agency.
§ 28-3903. Powers of the consumer protection agency.
§ 28-3904. Unlawful trade practices.
§ 28-3905. Complaint procedures.
§ 28-3906. Consumer education and information.
§ 28-3907. Advisory Committee on Consumer Protection.
§ 28-3908. Severability.
§ 28-3909. Restraining prohibited acts.
§ 28-3910. Investigatory powers of Corporation Counsel.
§ 28-3911. District of Columbia Consumer Protection Fund.[Repealed]
§ 28-3912. Submissions to the Council.
§ 28-3913. Rules.

## CHAPTER 39. CONSUMER PROTECTION PROCEDURES.

#### § 28-3901. DEFINITIONS AND PURPOSES.

- (a) As used in this chapter, the term-
  - (1) "person" means an individual, firm, corporation, partnership, cooperative, association, or any other organization, legal entity, or group of individuals however organized;
  - (2) "consumer" means a person who does or would purchase, lease (from), or receive consumer goods or services, including a co-obligor or surety, or a person who does or would provide the economic demand for a trade practice; as an adjective, "consumer" describes anything, without exception, which is primarily for personal, household, or family use;
  - (3) "merchant" means a person, whether organized or operating for profit or for a nonprofit purpose, who in the ordinary course of business does or would sell, lease (to), or transfer, either directly or indirectly, consumer goods or services, or a person who in the ordinary course of business does or would supply the goods or services which are or would be the subject matter of a trade practice;
  - (4) "complainant" means one or more consumers who took part in a trade practice, or one or more persons acting on behalf of (not the legal representative or other counsel of) such consumers, or the successors or assigns of such consumers or persons, once such consumers or persons complain to the Department about the trade practice;
  - (5) "respondent" means one or more merchants alleged by a complainant to have taken part in or carried out a trade practice, or the successors or assigns of such merchants, and includes other persons who may be deemed legally responsible for the trade practice;
  - (6) "trade practice" means any act which does or would create, alter, repair, furnish, make available, provide information about, or, directly or indirectly, solicit or offer for or effectuate, a sale, lease or transfer, of consumer goods or services;
  - (7) "goods and services" means any and all parts of the economic output of society, at any stage or related or necessary point in the economic process, and includes consumer credit, franchises, business opportunities, real estate transactions, and consumer services of all types;
  - (8) "Department" means the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs;
  - (9) "Director" means the Director of the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs;
  - (10) "Chief of the Office of Compliance" means the senior administrative officer of the Department's Office of Compliance who is delegated the responsibility of carrying out certain duties specified under section 28-3905;
  - (11) "Office of Adjudication" means the Department's Office of Adjudication which is responsible for carrying out certain duties specified under section 28-3905;
  - (12) "Office of Consumer Protection" means the Department's Office of Consumer Protection which is responsible for carrying out the statutory requirements set forth in § 28-3906; and
  - (13) "Committee" means the Advisory Committee on Consumer Protection which is responsible for carrying out the statutory requirements set forth in section 28-3907.
- (b) The purposes of this chapter are to:
  - (1) assure that a just mechanism exists to remedy all improper trade practices and deter the continuing use of such practices;
  - (2) promote, through effective enforcement, fair business practices throughout the community; and
  - (3) educate consumers to demand high standards and seek proper redress of grievances.
- (c) This chapter shall be construed and applied liberally to promote its purpose.

DCR 2900; Mar. 8, 1991, D.C. Law 8-234, § 2(b), 38 DCR 296; Feb. 5, 1994, D.C. Law 10-68, § 27(b), 40 DCR 6311; Apr. 9, 1997, D.C. Law 11-255, § 27(u), 44 DCR 1271; Oct. 19, 2000, D.C. Law 13-172, § 1402(b), 47 DCR 6308; Oct. 20, 2005, D.C. Law 16-33, § 2032(b), 52 DCR 7503; June 12, 2007, D.C. Law 17-4, § 2(a), 54 DCR 4085.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 28-3901.

1973 Ed., T. 28, Appx., § 2.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 13-172 in subsec. (b)(1) inserted "and deter the continuing use of such practices" following "practices" in subsec. (b)(1) and added subsec. (c) providing for liberal construction of the chapter.

D.C. Law 16-33 rewrote subsec. (a)(12), which had read:

"(12) 'Office of Consumer Education and Information' means the Department's Office of Consumer Education and Information which is responsible for carrying out the statutory requirements set forth in section 28-3906; and"

D.C. Law 17-4 rewrote subsec. (a)(3), which had read as follows:

"(3) 'merchant' means a person who does or would sell, lease (to), or transfer, either directly or indirectly, consumer goods or services, or a person who does or would supply the goods or services which are or would be the subject matter of a trade practice;".

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 1402(b) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13-376, July 24, 2000, 47 DCR 6574).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 1402(b) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Congressional Review Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13- 438, October 20, 2000, 47 DCR 8740).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2032(b) of Fiscal Year 2006 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2005 (D.C. Act 16-168, July 26, 2005, 52 DCR 7667).

Legislative History of Laws

Law 1-76, the "District of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 1-253, which was referred to the Committee on Public Services and Consumer Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on April 6, 1976 and April 20, 1976, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on May 14, 1976, it was assigned Act No. 1-118 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Law 3-85, the "Enacted Titles Numbering and Amendment Act of 1980," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 3-296, which was referred to the Committee on the Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on May 20, 1980 and June 3, 1980, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on June 20, 1980, it was assigned Act No. 3-202 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-234, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3909.

Law 10-68, the "Technical Amendments Act of 1993," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 10-166, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on June 29, 1993, and July 13, 1993, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on August 23, 1993, it was assigned Act No. 10-107 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 10-68 became effective on February 5, 1994.

Law 11-255, the "Second Technical Amendments Act of 1996," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 11-905, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 7, 1996, and December 3, 1996, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 24, 1996, it was assigned Act No. 11-519 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 11-255 became effective on April 9, 1997.

Law 13-172, the "Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Act of 2000," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 13-679, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on May 15, 2000, and June 6, 2000, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on June 26, 2000, it was assigned Act No. 13-175 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 13-172 became effective on October 19, 2000.

Law 16-33, the "Fiscal Year 2006 Budget Support Act of 2005", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 16-200 which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on May 10, 2005, and June 21, 2005, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on July 26, 2005, it was assigned Act No. 16-166 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 16-33 became effective on October 20, 2005.

Law 17-4, the "Nonprofit Organizations Oversight Improvement Amendment Act of 2007", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-53 which was referred to Committee on the Public Safety and Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on March 6, 2007, and April 3, 2007, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on April 19, 2007, it was assigned Act No. 17-33 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-4 became effective on June 12, 2007.

Delegation of Authority

Delegation of authority pursuant to Law 1-76, see Mayor's Order 86-132, August 12, 1986.

Miscellaneous Notes

Short title of subtitle D of title II of Law 16-33: Section 2031 of D.C. Law 16-33 provided that subtitle D of title II of the act may be cited as the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs Consumer Protection Revitalization Act of 2005.

### § 28-3902. DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS AS CONSUMER PROTECTION AGENCY.

- (a) The Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs shall be the principal consumer protection agency of the District of Columbia government and shall carry out the purposes of this chapter.
- (b) Repealed.
- (c) The Director of the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs shall exercise the powers set forth in section 28-3905 through the Office of Compliance, and shall appoint a Chief of the Office of Compliance from among active members of the unified District of Columbia Bar. The Chief of the Office of Compliance may carry out investigative, conciliatory, and other duties assigned by the Director.
- (d) Repealed.
- (e) The Mayor shall appoint one or more attorneys qualified to serve as administrative law judges or attorney examiners to conduct adjudicatory proceedings. Any administrative law judge or attorney examiner appointed pursuant to this subsection may hear cases pursuant to § 2-1801.03.
- (f) Repealed.
- (g) Repealed.
- (h) Repealed.
- (i) Notwithstanding any other provision of District law, enforcement of this chapter by the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs is suspended until October 1, 2002. This subsection shall not prevent the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs from cooperating with, and making appropriate referrals to, another law enforcement agency.

(July 22, 1976, D.C. Law 1-76, § 3, 23 DCR 1185; enacted, Sept. 6, 1980, D.C. Law 3-85, § 3(a), (d), 27 DCR 2900; Mar. 5, 1981, D.C. Law 3-159, § 2(a), 27 DCR 5147; Oct. 5, 1985, D.C. Law 6-42, § 422, 32 DCR 4450; Mar. 8, 1991, D.C. Law 8-234, § 2(c), 38 DCR 296; Mar. 8, 1991, D.C. Law 8-237, § 4, 38 DCR 314; Feb. 5, 1994, D.C. Law 10-68, § 27(a), (c), 40 DCR 6311; Sept. 26, 1995, D.C. Law 11-52, § 812, 42 DCR 3684; Apr. 9, 1997, D.C. Law 11-255, § 27(v), 44 DCR 1271; Apr. 29, 1998, D.C. Law 12-86, § 1301(a), 45 DCR 1172; Mar. 26, 1999, D.C. Law 12-175, § 1403, 45 DCR 7193; Apr. 20, 1999, D.C. Law 12-264, § 27(b), 46 DCR 2118; Oct. 19, 2000, D.C. Law 13- 172, § 1402(c), 47 DCR 6308.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 28-3902.

1973 Ed., T. 28, Appx., § 3.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 13-172 in subsec. (i) substituted 2002 for 2000 and added a new sentence at the end thereof providing cooperating with and making referrals to another law enforcement agency.

Temporary Amendments of Section

For temporary (225 day) amendment of section, see § 503 of Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Federal Law Conformity, Motor Vehicle Insurance, Regulatory Reform, and Consumer Law Temporary Amendment Act of 1998 (D.C. Law 12-154, September 18, 1998, law notification 45 DCR 6951).

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary amendment of section, see § 811 of the Omnibus Budget Support Congressional Review Emergency Act of 1995 (D.C. Act 11-124, July 27, 1995, 42 DCR 4160).

For temporary amendment of section, see § 503 of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Federal Law Conformity Emergency Amendment Act of 1998 (D.C. Act 12-339, May 4, 1998, 45 DCR 2947) and § 503 of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Federal Law Conformity, Motor Vehicle Insurance, Regulatory Reform, and Consumer Law Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 1998 (D.C. Act 12-429, August 6, 1998, 45 DCR 5890).

For temporary amendment of section, see § 1003 of the Fiscal Year 1999 Budget Support Emergency Act of 1998 (D.C. Act 12-401, July 13, 1998, 45 DCR 4794) and § 1003 of the Fiscal Year 1999 Budget Support Congressional Review Emergency Act of 1998 (D.C. Act 12-564, January 12, 1999, 46 DCR 669).

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 1003 of the Fiscal Year 1999 Budget Support Congressional Review Emergency Act of 1999 (D.C. Act 13-41, March 31, 1999, 46 DCR 3446).

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 1402(c) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13-376, July 24, 2000, 47 DCR 6574).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 1402(c) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Congressional Review Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13- 438, October 20, 2000, 47 DCR 8740).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 1-76, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 3-85, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

Law 3-159, the "Office of Consumer Protection Administrative Law Judge Act of 1980," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 3-339, which was referred to the Committee on the Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on October 14, 1980 and October 28, 1980, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on November 10, 1980, it was assigned Act No. 3-286 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Law 6-42, the "Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs Civil Infractions Act of 1985," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 6-187, which was referred to the Committee on Consumer and Regulatory Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on June 25, 1985, and July 9, 1985, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on July 16, 1985, it was assigned Act No. 6-60 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-234, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3909.

Law 8-237, the "Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs Civil Infractions Act of 1985 Technical and Clarifying Amendments Act of 1990," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 8-203, which was referred to the Committee on Consumer and Regulatory Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 4, 1990, and December 18, 1990, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 27, 1990, it was assigned Act No. 8-320 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 10-68, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

Law 11-52, the "Omnibus Budget Support Act of 1995," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 11-218, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on April 19, 1995, and June 6, 1995, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on July 13, 1995, it was assigned Act No. 11-94 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 11-52 became effective on September 26, 1995.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 11-255, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

Law 12-86, the "Omnibus Regulatory Reform Amendment Act of 1998," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 12-458, which was referred to the Committee on Public Works and the Environment and the Committee on Consumer and Regulatory Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 19, 1997, it was assigned Act No. 12-256 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 12-86 became effective on April 29, 1998.

Law 12-175, the "Fiscal Year 1999 Budget Support Act of 1998," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 12-618, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on May 5, 1998, and June 2, 1998, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on June 23, 1998, it was assigned Act No. 12-399 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 12-175 became effective on March 26, 1999.

Law 12-264, the "Technical Amendments Act of 1998," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 12-804, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 10, 1998, and December 1, 1998, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on January 7, 1999, it was assigned Act No. 12-626 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 12-264 became effective on April 20, 1999.

For Law 13-172, see notes following § 28-3901.

- (a) The Department, in its discretion, may:
  - (1) receive and investigate any consumer complaint and initiate its own investigation of deceptive, unfair, or unlawful trade practices against consumers where the:
    - (i) amount in controversy totals \$250 or more; or
    - (ii) case, or cases, indicates a pattern or practice of abuse on the part of a business or industry;
  - (2) issue summonses and subpoenas to compel the production of documents, papers, books, records, and other evidence, hold hearings, compel the attendance of witnesses, administer oaths, and take the testimony of any person under oath, concerning any trade practice;
  - (3) issue cease and desist orders with respect to trade practices determined to be in violation of District law by the Department;
  - (4) report to appropriate governmental agencies any information concerning violation of any law;
  - (5) present the interest of consumers before administrative and regulatory agencies and legislative bodies;
  - (6) assist, advise, and cooperate with private, local and federal agencies and officials to protect and promote the interest of the District of Columbia consumer public;
  - (7) assist, develop, and conduct programs of consumer education and information through public hearings, meetings, publications, or other materials prepared for distribution to the consumer public of the District of Columbia;
  - (8) undertake activities to encourage local business and industry to maintain high standards of honesty, fair business practices, and public responsibility in the production, promotion, and sale of consumer goods and services and in the extension of credit;
  - (9) exercise and perform such other functions and duties consistent with the purposes or provisions of this chapter which may be deemed necessary or appropriate to protect and promote the welfare of District of Columbia consumers;
  - (10) Repealed.
  - (11) implead and interplead persons who are properly parties to a case before the Department under section 28-3905;
  - (12) negotiate, agree to, and sign consent decrees;
  - (13) determine whether a person has executed a trade practice in violation of any law of the District of Columbia, and provide full remedy for such violation by:
    - (A) damages in contract, and orders for restitution, rescission, reformation, repair, and replacement,
    - (B) stipulations, conditions, and directives, both temporary and permanent, of all kinds,
    - (C) enforcement of orders and decrees, collection of civil penalties, and other activities, in the courts,
    - (D) and other lawful methods;
  - (14) maintain both confidential and public records, and publicize its own actions, in accordance with section 28-3905; and
  - (15) Repealed.
  - (16) appoint private attorneys from the District of Columbia bar, who shall take action in the name of the Department, and shall promulgate regulations implementing this provision, in order to assist in the enforcement of any consumer complaint.
- (b) The Department shall:
  - (1) perform the functions of the Mayor, Department of Consumer Affairs, Board of Consumer Goods Repairs Services or Department of Economic Development in:
    - (A) the District of Columbia Consumer Credit Protection Act of 1971 (Title 28, Chapters 36, 37, 38, et al.),
    - (B) the District of Columbia Consumer Retail Credit Regulation (16 DCMR Ch. 1),
    - (C) the District of Columbia Consumer Goods Repair Regulation (16 DCMR Ch. 6); and
    - (D) the District of Columbia Consumer LayAway Plan Act (section 28-3818);
  - (2) render annual reports to the Council and the Mayor as to the number of complaints filed and the nature, status, and disposition thereof, and about the other activities of the Department undertaken during the previous year.
- (c) The Department may not:

- (1) order damages for personal injury of a tortious nature;
- (2) apply the provisions of section 28-3905 to:
  - (A) landlord-tenant relations;
  - (B) persons subject to regulation by the Public Service Commission of the District of Columbia;
  - (C) professional services of clergymen, lawyers, and Christian Science practitioners engaging in their respective professional endeavors;
  - (D) a television or radio broadcasting station or publisher or printer of a newspaper, magazine, or other form of printed advertising, which broadcasts, publishes, or prints an advertisement which violates District law, except insofar as such station, publisher or printer engages in a trade practice which violates District law in selling or offering for sale its own goods or services, or has knowledge of the advertising being in violation of District law; or
  - (E) an action of an agency of government.

 $(\text{July } 22, 1976, \text{D.C. Law } 1\text{-}76, \S 4, 23 \text{ DCR } 1185; \text{June } 11, 1977, \text{D.C. Law } 2\text{-}8, \S 4(a), 24 \text{ DCR } 726; \text{Oct. } 4, 1978, \text{D.C. Law } 2\text{-}115, \S 3, 25 \text{ DCR } 1997; \text{ enacted, Sept. } 6, 1980, \text{D.C. Law } 3\text{-}85, \S 3(a), (d), 27 \text{ DCR } 2900; \text{Mar. } 8, 1991, \text{D.C. Law } 8\text{-}234, \S 2(d), 38 \text{ DCR } 296; \text{Feb. } 5, 1994, \text{D.C. Law } 10\text{-}68, \S 27(a), (d), 40 \text{ DCR } 6311; \text{Apr. } 9, 1997, \text{D.C. Law } 11\text{-}255, \S 27(w), 44 \text{ DCR } 1271; \text{Apr. } 29, 1998, \text{D.C. Law } 12\text{-}86, \S 1301(b), 45 \text{ DCR } 1172; \text{Oct. } 20, 2005, \text{D.C. Law } 16\text{-}33, \S 2032(c), 52 \text{ DCR } 7503; \text{Mar. } 2, 2007, \text{D.C. Law } 16\text{-}191, \S 100, 53 \text{ DCR } 6794; \text{Aug. } 16, 2008, \text{D.C. Law } 17\text{-}219, \S 2024, 55 \text{ DCR } 7598.)$ 

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 28-3903.

1973 Ed., T. 28, Appx., § 4.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 16-33 repealed subsecs. (a)(10) and (a)(15), which had read:

"(10) publish rules and regulations governing the Department's procedures, developed by the Director in accordance with the District of Columbia Administrative Procedure Act (sections 2-501 et seq.);"

"(15) issue rules that interpret, define, state general policy, or prescribe requirements to prevent unfair, deceptive, and unlawful trade practices as set forth in section 28-3904;"

D.C. Law 16-191, in subsecs. (a)(13)(D) and (14), validated previously made technical corrections.

D.C. Law 17-219, in subsec. (a)(1)(i), substituted "\$250" for "\$2,500".

Temporary Amendments of Section

For temporary (225 day) amendment of section, see § 2 of the Cooperative Association Amendment Act of 1998 (D.C. Law 12-117, April 13, 1999, law notification 46 DCR 3839).

For temporary (225 day) amendment of section, see § 2 of the Omnibus Regulatory Reform Temporary Amendment Act of 1999 (D.C. Law 13-3, May 28, 1999, law notification 46 DCR 5303).

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary amendment of section, see § 2 of the Omnibus Regulatory Reform Amendment Act of 1998 Emergency Repealer Act of 1998 (D.C. Act 12-297, March 4, 1998, 45 DCR 1773), and see § 2 of the Omnibus Regulatory Reform Congressional Review Emergency Repealer Act of 1998 (D.C. Act 12-387, July 13, 1998, 45 DCR 4792).

For temporary amendment of section, see § 2 of the Omnibus Regulatory Reform and Alcoholic Beverage Control DC Arena Clarifying Emergency Amendment Act of 1999 (D.C. Act 13-1, January 29, 1999, 46 DCR 2284).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2032(c) of Fiscal Year 2006 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2005 (D.C. Act 16-168, July 26, 2005, 52 DCR 7667).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 1-76, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

Law 2-8, the "Consumer Goods Repair Board Act of 1977," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 2-49, which was referred to the Committee on Public Services and Consumer Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on March 8, 1977 and March 22, 1977, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on April 7, 1977, it was assigned Act No. 2-28 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Law 2-115, the "District of Columbia Consumer Lay Away Plan Act of 1978," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 2-130, which was referred to the Committee on Public Services and Consumer Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on June 13, 1978 and June 27, 1978 respectively. Signed by

the Mayor on July 24, 1978, it was assigned Act No. 2-241 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 3-85, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-234, see Historical and Statutory Notes following  $\S$  28-3909.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 10-68, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 11-255, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-86, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3902.

For Law 16-33, see notes following § 28-3901.

Law 16-191, the "Technical Amendments Act of 2006", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 16-760, which was referred to the Committee of the whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on June 20, 2006, and July 11, 2006, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on July 31, 2006, it was assigned Act No. 16-475 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 16-191 became effective on March 2, 2007.

For Law 17-219, see notes following § 28-3301.

Miscellaneous Notes

Short title: Section 2023 of D.C. Law 17-219 provided that subtitle J of title II of the act may be cited as the "Consumer Protection Act of 2008".

#### § 28-3904. UNLAWFUL TRADE PRACTICES.

It shall be a violation of this chapter, whether or not any consumer is in fact misled, deceived or damaged thereby, for any person to:

- (a) represent that goods or services have a source, sponsorship, approval, certification, accessories, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not have;
- (b) represent that the person has a sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, certification, or connection that the person does not have;
- (c) represent that goods are original or new if in fact they are deteriorated, altered, reconditioned, reclaimed, or second hand, or have been used;
- (d) represent that goods or services are of particular standard, quality, grade, style, or model, if in fact they are of another;
- (e) misrepresent as to a material fact which has a tendency to mislead;
- (f) fail to state a material fact if such failure tends to mislead;
- (g) disparage the goods, services, or business of another by false or misleading representations of material facts;
- (h) advertise or offer goods or services without the intent to sell them or without the intent to sell them as advertised or offered;
- (i) advertise or offer goods or services without supplying reasonably expected public demand, unless the advertisement or offer discloses a limitation of quantity or other qualifying condition which has no tendency to mislead;
- (j) make false or misleading representations of fact concerning the reasons for, existence of, or amounts of price reductions, or the price in comparison to price of competitors or one's own price at a past or future time:
- (k) falsely state that services, replacements, or repairs are needed;
- (I) falsely state the reasons for offering or supplying goods or services at sale or discount prices;
- (m) harass, or threaten a consumer with any act other than legal process, either by telephone, cards, or letters;
- (n) cease work on, or return after ceasing work on, an electrical or mechanical apparatus, appliance, chattel or other goods, or merchandise, in other than the condition contracted for, or to impose a separate charge to reassemble or restore such an object to such a condition without notification of such charge prior to beginning work on or receiving such object;
- (o) replace parts or components in an electrical or mechanical apparatus, appliance, chattel or other goods, or merchandise when such parts or components are not defective, unless requested by the consumer:
- (p) falsely state or represent that repairs, alterations, modifications, or servicing have been made and receiving remuneration therefor when they have not been made;

- (q) fail to supply to a consumer a copy of a sales or service contract, lease, promissory note, trust agreement, or other evidence of indebtedness which the consumer may execute;
- (r) make or enforce unconscionable terms or provisions of sales or leases; in applying this subsection, consideration shall be given to the following, and other factors:
  - (1) knowledge by the person at the time credit sales are consummated that there was no reasonable probability of payment in full of the obligation by the consumer;
  - (2) knowledge by the person at the time of the sale or lease of the inability of the consumer to receive substantial benefits from the property or services sold or leased;
  - (3) gross disparity between the price of the property or services sold or leased and the value of the property or services measured by the price at which similar property or services are readily obtainable in transactions by like buyers or lessees;
  - (4) that the person contracted for or received separate charges for insurance with respect to credit sales with the effect of making the sales, considered as a whole, unconscionable; and
  - (5) that the person has knowingly taken advantage of the inability of the consumer reasonably to protect his interests by reasons of age, physical or mental infirmities, ignorance, illiteracy, or inability to understand the language of the agreement, or similar factors;
- (s) pass off goods or services as those of another;
- (t) use deceptive representations or designations of geographic origin in connection with goods or services;
- (u) represent that the subject of a transaction has been supplied in accordance with a previous representation when it has not;
- (v) misrepresent the authority of a salesman, representative or agent to negotiate the final terms of a transaction;
- (w) offer for sale or distribute any consumer product which is not in conformity with an applicable consumer product safety standard or has been ruled a banned hazardous product under the federal Consumer Product Safety Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 2051-83), without holding a certificate issued in accordance with section 14(a) of that Act to the effect that such consumer product conforms to all applicable consumer product safety rules (unless the certificate holder knows that such consumer product does not conform), or without relying in good faith on the representation of the manufacturer or a distributor of such product that the product is not subject to a consumer product safety rule issued under that Act;
- (x) sell consumer goods in a condition or manner not consistent with that warranted by operation of sections 28:2-312 through 318 of the District of Columbia Official Code, or by operation or requirement of federal law:
- (y) violate any provision of the District of Columbia Consumer LayAway Plan Act (section 28-3818);
- (z) violate any provision of the Rental Housing Locator Consumer Protection Act of 1979 (section 28-3819) or, if a rental housing locator, to refuse or fail to honor any obligation under a rental housing locator contract:
- (z-1) violate any provision of Chapter 46 of this title;
- (aa) violate any provision of sections 32-404, 32-405, 32-406, and 32-407;
- (bb) refuse to provide the repairs, refunds, or replacement motor vehicles or fails to provide the disclosures of defects or damages required by the Automobile Consumer Protection Act of 1984;
- (cc) violate any provision of the Real Property Credit Line Deed of Trust Act of 1987;
- (dd) violate any provision of title 16 of the District of Columbia Municipal Regulations;
- (ee) violate any provision of the Public Insurance Adjuster Act of 2002 [Chapter 16A of Title 31];
- (ff) violate any provision of Chapter 33 of this title;
- (gg) violate any provision of the Home Equity Protection Act of 2007 [Chapter 24A of Title 42]; or
- (hh) fail to make a disclosure as required by § 26-1113(a-1).
- (July 22, 1976, D.C. Law 1-76, § 5, 23 DCR 1185; Oct. 4, 1978, D.C. Law 2-115, § 3, 25 DCR 1997; June 21, 1980, D.C. Law 3-71, § 3(a), 27 DCR 1891; enacted, Sept. 6, 1980, D.C. Law 3-85, § 3(a), (d), 27 DCR 2900; Mar. 13, 1985, D.C. Law 5-136, § 16, 31 DCR 5727; Mar. 14, 1985, D.C. Law 5-162, § 9(a), 32 DCR 160; Jan. 28, 1988, D.C. Law 7-67, § 5, 34 DCR 7441; Mar. 8, 1991, D.C. Law 8-234, § 2(e), 38 DCR 296; Mar. 8, 1991, D.C. Law 8-236, § 9, 38 DCR 306; Feb. 5, 1994, D.C. Law 10-68, § 27(e), 40 DCR 6311; July 25, 1995, D.C. Law 11-30, § 7(h), 42 DCR 1547; Apr. 9, 1997, D.C. Law 11-255, § 27(x), 44 DCR 1271; Mar. 27, 2003, D.C. Law 14-256, § 11(b), 50 DCR 238; Mar. 13, 2004, D.C. Law 15-105, § 63, 51 DCR 881; Nov. 24, 2007, D.C. Law 17-42, § 3(b), 54 DCR 9988; Jan. 29, 2008, D.C. Law 17-87, § 7, 54 DCR 11913; Jan. 29, 2008, D.C. Law 17-90, § 3, 54 DCR 11925; Mar. 25, 2009, D.C. Law 17-353, § 222, 56 DCR 1117.)

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 28-3904.

1973 Ed., T. 28, Appx., § 5.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 14-256 added subsec. (ee).

D.C. Law 15-105, in subsec. (ee), validated a previously made technical correction.

D.C. Law 17-42, in subsec. (cc), deleted "or" from the end; in subsec. (dd), substituted a semicolon for a period; in subsec. (ee), substituted "; or" for a period; and added subsec. (ff).

D.C. Law 17-87, in subsec. (ee), deleted "or" from the end; in subsec. (ff), substituted "; or" for a period; and added subsec. (gg).

D.C. Law 17-90, in subsec. (ff), deleted "or" from the end; in subsec. (gg), substituted "; or" for a period; and added subsec. (hh).

D.C. Law 17-353 validated previously made technical corrections in pars. (ff), (gg), and (hh).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 1-76, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-115, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3903.

Law 3-71, the "Rental Housing Locator Consumer Protection Act of 1979," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 3-124, which was referred to the Committee on Housing and Economic Development. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on March 18, 1980 and April 1, 1980, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on May 1, 1980, it was assigned Act No. 3-179 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 3-85, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

Law 5-136, the "Employment Services Licensing and Regulation Act of 1984," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 5-280, which was referred to the Committee on Consumer and Regulatory Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on September 12, 1984, and October 9, 1984, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on October 25, 1984, it was assigned Act No. 5-194 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Law 5-162, the "Automobile Consumer Protection Act of 1984," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 5-288, which was referred to the Committee on Consumer and Regulatory Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 20, 1984, and December 4, 1984, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 7, 1984, it was assigned Act No. 5-227 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Law 7-67, the "Real Property Credit Line Deed of Trust Act of 1987," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 7-163, which was referred to the Committee on Consumer and Regulatory Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on October 13, 1987, and October 27, 1987, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on November 5, 1987, it was assigned Act No. 7-100 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

Law 8-51, the "Natural Disaster Consumer Protection Temporary Act of 1989," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 8-330. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on June 27, 1989 and July 11, 1989, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on August 1, 1989, it was assigned Act No. 8-85 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 8-51 became effective on October 19, 1989.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-234, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3909.

Law 8-236, the "District of Columbia Consumer Credit Service Organization Amendment Act of 1990," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 8-70, which was referred to the Committee on Consumer and Regulatory Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 4, 1990, and December 18, 1990, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 27, 1990, it was assigned Act No. 8-319 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 10-68, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

Law 11-30, the "Technical Amendments Act of 1995," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 11-58, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on February 7, 1995, and March 7, 1995, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on March 22, 1995, it was assigned Act No. 11-32 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 11-30 became effective on July 25, 1995.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 11-255, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For Law 14-256, see notes following § 28-3811.

Law 15-105, the "Technical Amendments Act of 2003", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 15-437, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 4, 2003, and December 2, 2003, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on January 6, 2004, it was assigned Act No. 15-291 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 15-105 became effective on March 13, 2004.

For Law 17-42, see notes following § 28-3301.

Law 17-87, the "Home Equity Protection Act of 2007", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-101 which was referred to the Committee on Public Services and Consumer Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on October 2, 2007, and November 6, 2007, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on November 27, 2007, it was assigned Act No. 17-205 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-87 became effective on January 29, 2008.

Law 17-90, the "Mortgage Disclosure Amendment Act of 2007", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-167 which was referred to the Committee on Public Services and Consumer Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on October 2, 2007, and November 6, 2007, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on November 27, 2007, it was assigned Act No. 17-208 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-90 became effective on January 29, 2008.

For Law 17-353, see notes following § 28-3151.

Effective Dates

Section 4 of D.C. Law 17-42 provides:

"This act shall take effect following the certification by the Chief Financial Officer, through a revised quarterly revenue estimate for fiscal year 2008, that local funds exceed the annual revenue estimates incorporated in the fiscal year 2008 budget and financial plan in an amount sufficient to account for its fiscal effect. The Chief Financial Officer shall set aside revenue to account for the cost of fully implementing this act."

References in Text

The Public Insurance Adjuster Licensure Act of 2002, referred to in subsec. (ee), is D.C. Law 14-256.

The "Automobile Consumer Protection Act of 1984", referred to in paragraph (bb) of this section, is D.C. Law 5-162, codified as Chapter 5 of Title 50.

The "Real Property Credit Line Deed of Trust Act of 1987," referred to in subsection (cc) of this section, is codified as Chapter 23 of Title 42.

Miscellaneous Notes

Application of D.C. Law 14-256 including the amendments to this section: See section 12 of D.C. Law 14-256, codified as § 31-1631.12.

#### § 28-3905. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES.

- (a) A case is begun by filing with the Department a complaint plainly describing a trade practice and stating the complainant's (and, if different, the consumer's) name and address, the name and address (if known) of the respondent, and such other information as the Director may require. The complaint must be in or reduced by the Director to writing. The filing of a complaint with the Department shall toll the periods for limitation of time for bringing an action as set out in section 12-301 until the complaint has been resolved through an administrative order, consent decree, or dismissal in accordance with this section or until an opportunity to arbitrate has been provided in Chapter 5 of Title 50.
- (b)(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2) of this subsection, the Director shall investigate each such complaint and determine:
  - (A) What trade practice actually occurred; and
  - (B) Whether the trade practice which occurred violates any statute, regulation, rule of common law, or other law of the District of Columbia.
  - (2) The Director may, in his or her discretion, decline to prosecute certain cases as necessary to manage the Department's caseload and control program costs.
- (b-1) In carrying out an investigation and determination pursuant to subsection (b) of this section, the Director shall consult the respondent and such other available sources of information, and make such other efforts, as are appropriate and necessary to carry out such duties.
- (c) If at any time the Director finds that the trade practice complained of may, in whole or in part, be a violation of law other than a law of the District of Columbia or a law within the jurisdiction of the Department, the Director may in writing so inform the complainant, respondent and officials of the District, the United States, or other jurisdiction, who would properly enforce such law.
- (d) The director shall determine that there are, or are not, reasonable grounds to believe that a trade

practice, in violation of a law of the District of Columbia within the jurisdiction of the Department, has occurred in any part or all of the case. The Director may find that there are not such reasonable grounds for any of the following reasons:

- (1) any violation of law which may have occurred is of a law not of the District of Columbia or not within the jurisdiction of the Department, or occurred more than three years prior to the filing of the complaint;
- (2) in case paragraph (1) of this subsection does not apply, no trade practice occurred in violation of any law of the District;
- (3) the respondent cannot be identified or located, or would not be subject to the personal jurisdiction of a District of Columbia court;
- (4) the complainant, to the Director's knowledge, no longer seeks redress in the case;
- (5) the complainant and respondent, to the Director's knowledge, have themselves reached an agreement which settles the case; or
- (6) the complainant can no longer be located.
- (d-1) The Director may dismiss any part or all of a case to which one or more of the reasons stated in subsection (d) of this section apply. The Director shall inform all parties in writing of the determination, and, if any part or all of the case is dismissed, shall specify which of the reasons in this subsection applies to which part of the case, and such other detail as is necessary to explain the dismissal.
- (e) The Director may attempt to settle, in accordance with subsection (h) of this section, each case for which reasonable grounds are found in accordance with subsection (d-1) of this section. After the Director's determination as to whether the complaint is within the Department's jurisdiction, in accordance with subsection (d-1) of this section, the Director shall:
  - (1) effect a consent decree;
  - (2) dismiss the case in accordance with subsection (h)(2) of this section;
  - (3) through the Chief of the Office of Compliance present to the Office of Adjudication, with copies to all parties, a brief and plain statement of each trade practice that occurred in violation of District law, the law the trade practice violates, and the relief sought from the Office of Adjudication for violation; or
  - (4) notify all parties of another action taken, with the reasons therefor stated in detail and supported by fact. Reasons may include:
    - (A) any reason listed in subsections (d)(1) through (d)(6) of this section; and
    - (B) that the presentation of a charge to the Office of Adjudication would not serve the purposes of this chapter.
  - (5) Repealed.
- (f) When the case is transmitted to the Office of Adjudication, the Chief of the Office of Compliance shall sign, and serve the respondent, the Department's summons to answer or appear before the Office of Adjudication. Not less than 15 nor more than 90 days after such transmittal, the case shall be heard. The case shall proceed under section 10 of the District of Columbia Administrative Procedure Act (section 2-509). The Office of Adjudication may, without delaying its hearing or decision, attempt to settle the case pursuant to subsection (h) of this section, and has discretion to permit any stipulation or consent decree the parties agree to. The Director shall be a party on behalf of the complainant. Applications to intervene shall be decided as may be proper or required by law or rule. Reasonable discovery shall be freely allowed. Any finding or decision may be modified or set aside, in whole or part, before a notice of appeal is filed in the case, or the time to so file has run out.
- (g) If, after hearing the evidence, the Office of Adjudication decides a trade practice occurred in which the respondent violated a law of the District of Columbia within the jurisdiction of the Department, such Office of Adjudication shall issue an order which:
  - (1) shall require the respondent to cease and desist from such conduct;
  - (2) shall, if such Office of Adjudication also decides that the consumer has been injured by the trade practice, order redress through contract damages, restitution for money, time, property or other value received from the consumer by the respondent, or through rescission, reformation, repair, replacement, or other just method;
  - (3) shall state the number of trade practices the respondent performed in violation of law;
  - (4) shall, absent good cause found by the Office of Adjudication, require the respondent to pay the Department its costs for investigation, negotiation, and hearing;
  - (5) may include such other findings, stipulations, conditions, directives, and remedies including punitive damages, treble damages, or reasonable attorney's fees, as are reasonable and necessary to identify, correct, or prevent the conduct which violated District law; and
  - (6) may be based, in whole or part, upon a violation of a law establishing or regulating a type of

business, occupational or professional license or permit, and may refer the case for further proceedings to an appropriate board or commission, but may not suspend or revoke a license or permit if there is a board or commission which oversees the specific type of license or permit.

- (h)(1) At any time after reasonable grounds are found in accordance with subsection (d) of this section, the respondent, the Department (represented by (i) the Director prior to transmittal to the Office of Adjudication and after an order issued pursuant to subsection (f) of this section has been appealed, and (ii) the Office of Adjudication after transmittal to the Office of Adjudication and prior to such appeal), and the complainant, may agree to settle all or part of the case by a written consent decree which may:
  - (A) include any provision described in subsection (g)(2) through (6) of this section;
  - (B) not contain an assertion that the respondent has violated a law;
  - (C) contain an assurance that the respondent will refrain from a trade practice;
  - (D) bar the Department from further action in the case, or a part thereof; or
  - (E) contain such other provisions or considerations as the parties agree to.
  - (2) The representative of the Department shall administer the settlement proceedings, and may utilize the good offices of the Advisory Committee on Consumer Protection. All settlement proceedings shall be informal and include all interested parties and such representatives as the parties may choose to represent them. Such proceedings shall be private, and nothing said or done, except a consent decree, shall be made public by the Department, any party, or the Advisory Committee, unless the parties agree thereto in writing. The representative of the Department may call settlement conferences. For persistent and unreasonable failure by the complainant to attend such conferences or to take part in other settlement proceedings, the Director, prior to transmittal to the Office of Adjudication, may dismiss the case.
  - (3) A consent decree described in paragraph (1) of this subsection may be modified by agreement of the Department, complainant and respondent.
- (i)(1) An aggrieved party may appeal to the District of Columbia Court of Appeals after:
  - (A) the Office of Adjudication decides a case pursuant to subsection (f) of this section;
  - (B) all parts of a case have been dismissed by operation of subsection (d) or (e) of this section; or
  - (C) the Director dismisses an entire case in accordance with subsection (h)(2) of this section.
  - (1A) Such appeals shall be conducted in accordance with the procedures and standards of section 11 of the District of Columbia Administrative Procedure Act (section 2-510), and take into account the procedural duties placed upon the Department in this section and all actions taken by the Department in the case.
  - (2) An aggrieved party may appeal any ruling of the Office of Adjudication under subsection (j) of this section to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia.
  - (3)(A) Any person found to have executed a trade practice in violation of a law of the District of Columbia within the jurisdiction of the Department:
    - (i) shall be liable to the Department for a civil penalty of not exceeding 1000.00 for each violation enumerated in an order pursuant to subsection (g)(3) of this section; and
    - (ii) may be assessed and made liable to the Department for a civil penalty of not exceeding \$1000.00 for each violation or failure to adhere to a provision, of an order described in subsection (f), (g), or (j) of this section or a consent decree described in subsection (h) of this section
    - (B) The Department, the complainant, or the respondent may sue in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia for a remedy, enforcement, or assessment or collection of a civil penalty, when any violation, or failure to adhere to a provision of a consent decree described in subsection (h) of this section, or an order described in subsection (f), (g), or (j) of this section, has occurred. The Department shall sue in that Court for assessment of a civil penalty when an order described in subsection (g) of this section has been issued and become final. A failure by the Department or any person to file suit or prosecute under this subparagraph in regard to any provision or violation of a provision of any consent decree or order, shall not constitute a waiver of such provision or any right under such provision. The Court shall levy the appropriate civil penalties, and may order, if supported by evidence, temporary, preliminary, or permanent injunctions, damages, treble damages, reasonable attorney's fees, consumer redress, or other remedy. The Court may set aside the final order if the Court determines that the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs lacked jurisdiction over the respondent or that the complaint was frivolous. If, after considering an application to set aside an order of the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs, the Court determines that the application was frivolous or that the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs lacked jurisdiction, the Court shall award reasonable attorney's fees.
    - (C) Application to the Court to enforce an order shall be made at no cost to the District of Columbia

or the complainant.

- (4) The Corporation Counsel shall represent the Department in all proceedings described in this subsection.
- (j) If, at any time before notice of appeal from a decision made according to subsection (f) of this section is filed or the time to so file has run out, the Director believes that legal action is necessary to preserve the subject matter of the case, to prevent further injury to any party, or to enable the Department ultimately to order a full and fair remedy in the case, the Chief of the Office of Compliance shall present the matter to the Office of Adjudication, which may issue a cease and desist order to take effect immediately, or grant such other relief as will assure a just adjudication of the case, in accordance with such beliefs of the Director which are substantiated by evidence. The Office of Adjudication's ruling may be appealed to court within 7 days of notice thereof on the Director, respondent, and complainant.
- (k)(1) A person, whether acting for the interests of itself, its members, or the general public, may bring an action under this chapter in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia seeking relief from the use by any person of a trade practice in violation of a law of the District of Columbia and may recover or obtain the following remedies:
  - (A) treble damages, or \$1,500 per violation, whichever is greater, payable to the consumer;
  - (B) reasonable attorney's fees;
  - (C) punitive damages;
  - (D) an injunction against the use of the unlawful trade practice;
  - (E) in representative actions, additional relief as may be necessary to restore to the consumer money or property, real or personal, which may have been acquired by means of the unlawful trade practice; or
  - (F) any other relief which the court deems proper.
  - (2) The remedies or penalties provided by this chapter are cumulative and in addition to other remedies or penalties provided by law. Nothing in this chapter shall prevent any person who is injured by a trade practice in violation of a law of the District of Columbia within the jurisdiction of the Department from exercising any right or seeking any remedy to which the person might be entitled or from filing any complaint with any other agency.
  - (3) Any written decision made pursuant to subsection (f) of this section is admissible as prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein.
  - (4) If a merchant files in any court a suit seeking to collect a debt arising out of a trade practice from which has also arisen a complaint filed with the Department by the defendant in the suit either before or after the suit was filed, the court shall dismiss the suit without prejudice, or remand it to the Department.
  - (5) An action brought by a person under this subsection against a nonprofit organization shall not be based on membership in such organization, membership services, training or credentialing activities, sale of publications of the nonprofit organization, medical or legal malpractice, or any other transaction, interaction, or dispute not arising from the purchase or sale of consumer goods or services in the ordinary course of business.
- (I) The Director and Office of Adjudication may use any power granted to the Department in section 28-3903, as each reasonably deems will aid in carrying out the functions assigned to each in this section. Each, while holding the primary responsibility of the Department for decision in a certain case, may join such case with others then before the Department. No case may be disposed of in a manner not expressly authorized in this section. Every complaint case filed with the Department and within its jurisdiction shall be decided in accordance with the procedures and sanctions of this section, notwithstanding that a given trade practice, at issue in the case, may be governed in whole or in part by another law which has different enforcement procedures and sanctions.
- (m)(1) Whenever requested, the Department will make available to the complainant and respondent an explanation, and any other information helpful in understanding, the provisions of any consent decree to which the Department agrees, and any order or decision which the Department makes.
  - (2) The Director shall maintain a public index for all the cases on which the Department has made a final action or a consent decree, organized by:
    - (A) name of complainant;
    - (B) name of respondent;
    - (C) industry of the merchant involved;
    - (D) nature of the violation of District law alleged or found to exist (for example, subsection of section 28-3904 involved, or section of a licensing law involved);
    - (E) final disposition.

- (n) There shall be established a Consumer Protection Education Fund ("Fund"). All monies awarded to or paid to the Department by operation of this section, including final judgements, consent decrees, or settlements reduced to final judgements, shall be paid into the Fund in order to further the purpose of this chapter as enumerated in § 28-3901.
- (o) Every complaint case that is before the Department in accordance with this section shall proceed in confidence, except for hearings and meetings before the Office of Adjudication, until the Department makes a final action or a consent decree.
- (p) The Director may file a complaint in accordance with subsection (a) of this section, on behalf of one or more consumers or as complainant, based on evidence and information gathered by the Department in carrying out this chapter. Persons not parties to but directly or indirectly intended as beneficiaries of an order described in subsection (f), (g), or (j) of this section, or a consent decree described in subsection (h) of this section, arising out of a complaint filed by the Director, may enforce such order or decree in the manner provided in subsection (i)(3)(B) of this section.
- (q) At any hearing pursuant to subsection (f) or (j) of this section, a witness has the right to be advised by counsel present at such hearing. In any process under this section, the complainant and respondent may have legal or other counsel for representation and advice.
- (r) All cases for which complaints were filed before March 5, 1981, may be presented to and heard by the Office of Adjudication notwithstanding the time limits previously provided in section 28-3905(d), 28-3905(e), and 28-3905(f) for the investigation and transmittal of cases to the Office of Adjudication, and for the hearing of cases by the Office of Adjudication.

(July 22, 1976, D.C. Law 1-76, § 6, 23 DCR 1185; June 11, 1977, D.C. Law 2-8, § 4(b), 24 DCR 726; enacted, Sept. 6, 1980, D.C. Law 3-85, § 3(a), (d), 27 DCR 2900; Mar. 5, 1981, D.C. Law 3-159, §§ 2(b), (c), 3, 27 DCR 5147; Mar. 8, 1991, D.C. Law 8-234, § 2(f), 38 DCR 296; Feb. 5, 1994, D.C. Law 10-68, § 27(f), 40 DCR 6311; Apr. 9, 1997, D.C. Law 11-255, § 27(y), 44 DCR 1271; Apr. 29, 1998, D.C. Law 12-86, § 1301(c), 45 DCR 1172; Oct. 19, 2000, D.C. Law 13-172, § 1402(d), 47 DCR 6308; Oct. 20, 2005, D.C. Law 16-33, § 2032(d), 52 DCR 7503; June 12, 2007, D.C. Law 17-4, § 2(b), 54 DCR 4085.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 28-3905.

1973 Ed., T. 28, Appx., § 6.

Effect of Amendments

- D.C. Law 13-172 added the introductory sentence to subsec. (k)(2) pertaining to the penalties being cumulative and additional and rewrote subsec. (k)(1) which formerly provided:
- "(k)(1) Any consumer who suffers any damage as a result of the use or employment by any person of a trade practice in violation of a law of the District of Columbia within the jurisdiction of the Department may bring an action in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia to recover or obtain any of the following:
- "(A) a civil fine, payable to the Department, not to exceed \$500 per violation;
- "(B) treble damages, or \$1,500 per violation, whichever is greater, payable to the consumer;
- "(C) reasonable attorneys' fees;
- "(D) punitive damages; and
- "(E) any other relief which the court deems proper."
- D.C. Law 16-33 rewrote subsec. (b), which had read:
- "(b) The Director shall investigate each such complaint and determine:
- "(1) what trade practice actually occurred, and
- "(2) whether the trade practice which occurred violates any statute, regulation, rule of common law, or other law, of the District of Columbia."
- D.C. Law 17-4 added subsec. (k)(5).

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 1402(d) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13-376, July 24, 2000, 47 DCR 6574).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 1402(d) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Congressional Review Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13- 438, October 20, 2000, 47 DCR 8740).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2032(d) of Fiscal Year 2006 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2005 (D.C. Act 16-168, July 26, 2005, 52 DCR 7667).

For legislative history of D.C. Law 1-76, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 2-8, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3903.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 3-85, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 3-159, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3902.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-234, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3909.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 10-68, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 11-255, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 12-86, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3902.

For Law 13-172, see notes following § 28-3901.

For Law 16-33, see notes following § 28-3901.

For Law 17-4, see notes under § 28-3905.

#### § 28-3906. CONSUMER EDUCATION AND INFORMATION.

- (a) The Office of Consumer Protection is established within the Department. The Office of Consumer Protection shall:
  - (1) Inform the public and the business community of existing laws, regulations, and guidelines concerning consumer rights and standards of fair treatment;
  - (2) Coordinate consumer education programs with, and use consumer education programs to help carry out, the consumer protection programs of the Department, including enforcement options through the Department and the Office of the Attorney General and before the courts;
  - (2A) Develop a consumer education program to educate consumers about the appropriateness of video and computer games for certain age groups, which may include information on video and computer game rating systems and the manner in which parental controls can enhance the ability of parents to regulate their children's access to video and computer games;
  - (3) Handle publicity for the Department concerning cases under § 28-3905 when the Director requests;
  - (4) Aid the Director in the formulation of consumer protection plans and recommend legislation and regulations related to consumer education;
  - (5) Cooperate with consumer-related agencies, groups, and individuals in the District of Columbia metropolitan area to improve consumer education efforts; and
  - (6) Perform the functions of the Department under § 28-3903(7) and (8).
- (b) The Chief of the Office of Consumer Protection shall be appointed by the Director.
- (c) In fiscal year 2006, the Office of Consumer Protection shall focus on investigation and mediation in the areas of auto repair and home improvement.

 $(July 22, 1976, D.C. Law 1-76, \S 7, 23 DCR 1185; enacted, Sept. 6, 1980, D.C. Law 3-85, \S 3(a), (d), 27 DCR 2900; Mar. 8, 1991, D.C. Law 8-234, \S 2(g), 38 DCR 296; Oct. 20, 2005, D.C. Law 16-33, \S 2032(e), 52 DCR 7503; Mar. 6, 2007, D.C. Law 16-218, \S 2, 53 DCR 10209.)$ 

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 28-3906.

1973 Ed., T. 28, Appx., § 7.

Effect of Amendments

D.C. Law 16-33, rewrote section, which had read:

- "(a) The Office of Consumer Education and Information shall:
- "(1) inform the public and the business community of existing laws, regulations and guidelines concerning consumer rights and standards of fair treatment;
- "(2) coordinate consumer education programs with, and use consumer education programs to help carry out, the consumer protection programs of the Office;
- "(3) handle publicity for the Office [Department] concerning cases under section 28-3905, when the Director requests;
- "(4) aid the Director in the formulation of consumer protection plans and recommend legislation and

regulations related to consumer education;

- "(5) cooperate with consumer-related agencies, groups and individuals in the D.C. area to improve consumer education efforts.
- "(b) The Chief of the Office of Consumer Education and Information shall be appointed by the Director."
- D.C. Law 16-218, in subsec. (a), added par. (2A).

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2032(e) of Fiscal Year 2006 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2005 (D.C. Act 16-168, July 26, 2005, 52 DCR 7667).

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 1-76, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 3-85, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 8-234, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3909.

For Law 16-33, see notes following § 28-3901.

Law 16-218, the "Consumer Education on Video and Computer Games for Minors Act of 2006", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 16-125, which was referred to Committee on Consumer and Regulatory Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on November 14, 2006, and December 5, 2006, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 19 2006, it was assigned Act No. 16-547 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 16-218 became effective on March 6, 2007.

Editor's Notes

The bracketed language has been inserted in (a)(3) to correct an error in D.C. Law 8-234.

#### § 28-3907. ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER PROTECTION.

- (a) There shall be an Advisory Committee on Consumer Protection consisting of 11 members appointed by the Mayor for three-year terms. The nongovernmental members, immediately prior to the effective date of this chapter, of the Advisory Committee on Consumer Affairs established in Organization Order No. 40 (C.O. 73-225; October 3, 1973), shall carry out their terms. No District Government employees shall be members. Four members shall be District merchants. Seven members shall be persons with demonstrated and current records of activity on behalf of consumers.
- (b) The Committee shall:
  - (1) recommend priorities in, and, at the Committee's discretion, carry out investigations and research, which concern broad, developing, or frequently encountered consumer problems;
  - (2) assist the Director as the Director may request;
  - (3) monitor the performance and organization of the Office, by quantitative and qualitative methods, and make recommendations and criticisms, based thereon; and
  - (4) cooperate with consumer-related agencies, groups, and individuals in the District and in the metropolitan area to improve city-wide and area-wide consumer protection and education efforts.
- (c) The Committee shall elect one of its members as Chairperson and another as Vice-Chairperson, each to serve at the pleasure of the Committee, and such other officers and subcommittees as it determines.
- (d) The Office shall provide staff support for the Advisory Committee. Appropriate expenses incurred by the Committee as a whole, or by individual members, may be paid when authorized by the Director.
- (e) The Committee shall meet on call by the Chairperson as frequently as required to perform its duties, but no less than once each month, and it shall submit an annual report to the Mayor, Council, and the public.
- (f) The Committee shall hold public hearings as deemed necessary.

(July 22, 1976, D.C. Law 1-76, § 8, 23 DCR 1185; Sept. 6, 1980, D.C. Law 3-85, § 3(a), (d), 27 DCR 2900; Apr. 9, 1997, D.C. Law 11-255, § 27(z), 44 DCR 1271.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 28-3907.

1973 Ed., T. 28, Appx., § 8.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 1-76, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 3-85, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 11-255, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

#### § 28-3908. SEVERABILITY.

If any provision of this chapter, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, is held invalid, the remainder of this chapter, and the application of such provision to other persons not similarly situated or to other circumstances, shall not be affected.

(July 22, 1976, D.C. Law 1-76, § 9, 23 DCR 1185; enacted, Sept. 6, 1980, D.C. Law 3-85, § 3(a), (d), 27 DCR 2900.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 28-3908.

1973 Ed., T. 28, Appx., § 9.

Legislative History of Laws

For legislative history of D.C. Law 1-76, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

For legislative history of D.C. Law 3-85, see Historical and Statutory Notes following § 28-3901.

#### § 28-3909. RESTRAINING PROHIBITED ACTS.

- (a) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, if the Corporation Counsel has reason to believe that any person is using or intends to use any method, act, or practice in violation of section 28-3803, 28-3805, 28-3807, 28-3810, 28-3811, 28-3812, 28-3814, 28-3817, 28-3818, 28-3819, or 28-3904, and if it is in the public interest, the Corporation Counsel, in the name of the District of Columbia, may petition the Superior Court of the District of Columbia to issue a temporary or permanent injunction against the use of the method, act, or practice. In any action under this section, the Corporation Counsel shall not be required to prove damages and the injunction shall be issued without bond. The Corporation Counsel may recover restitution for property lost or damages suffered by consumers as a consequence of the unlawful act or practice.
- (b) In addition, in an action under this section, the Corporation Counsel may recover a civil penalty of not more than \$1,000 for each violation, the costs of the action, and reasonable attorney's fees.
- (c) The Corporation Counsel may also:
  - (1) represent the interests of consumers before administrative and regulatory agencies and legislative bodies;
  - (2) assist, advise, and cooperate with private, local, and federal agencies and officials to protect and promote the interests of consumers;
  - (3) assist, develop, and conduct programs of consumer education and information through public hearings, meetings, publications, or other materials prepared for distribution to consumers;
  - (4) undertake activities to encourage local business and industry to maintain high standards of honesty, fair business practices, and public responsibility in the production, promotion, and sale of consumer goods and services and in the extension of consumer credit;
  - (5) perform other functions and duties which are consistent with the purposes or provisions of this chapter, and with the Corporation's Counsel's role as *parens patriae*, which may be necessary or appropriate to protect and promote the welfare of consumers;
  - (6) negotiate and enter into agreements for compliance by merchants with the provisions of this chapter; or
  - (7) publicize its own actions taken in the interests of consumers.

(Mar. 8, 1991, D.C. Law 8-234, § 2(h), 38 DCR 296; Oct. 19, 2000, D.C. Law 13-172, § 1402(e), 47 DCR 6308.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Prior Codifications

1981 Ed., § 28-3909.

D.C. Law 13-172 designated the existing text as subsec. (a), deleted from the second sentence thereof "on behalf of any identifiable person," preceding "may recover restitution", and added subsecs. (b) and (c).

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90-day) amendment of section, see § 1402(e) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13-376, July 24, 2000, 47 DCR 6574).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 1402(e) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Congressional Review Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13- 438, October 20, 2000, 47 DCR 8740).

Legislative History of Laws

Law 8-234, the "District of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act Amendment Act of 1990," was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 8-111, which was referred to the Committee on Consumer and Regulatory Affairs. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on December 4, 1990, and December 18, 1990, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 27, 1990, it was assigned Act No. 8-317 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review.

For Law 13-172, see notes following § 28-3901.

#### § 28-3910. INVESTIGATORY POWERS OF CORPORATION COUNSEL.

In the course of an investigation to determine whether to seek relief under section 28-3909, the Corporation Counsel may subpoen witnesses, administer oaths, examine an individual under oath, and compel production of records, books, papers, contracts, and other documents. Information obtained under this section is not admissible in a later criminal proceeding against the person who provides the evidence.

(Oct. 19, 2000, D.C. Law 13-172, § 1402(f), 47 DCR 6308.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90-day) addition of section, see § 1402(f) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13-376, July 24, 2000, 47 DCR 6574).

For temporary (90 day) addition of section, see § 1402(f) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Congressional Review Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13- 438, October 20, 2000, 47 DCR 8740).

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 13-172, see notes following § 28-3901.

### § 28-3911. DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CONSUMER PROTECTION FUND.[REPEALED]

(Oct. 19, 2000, D.C. Law 13-172, § 1402(f), 47 DCR 6308; Mar. 8, 2007, D.C. Law 16-237, § 2(d), 54 DCR 393; Sept. 18, 2007, D.C. Law 17-20, § 3023, 54 DCR 7052; Jan. 23, 2008, D.C. Law 17-68, § 2, 54 DCR 11648; Mar. 3, 2010, D.C. Law 18-111, § 3002, 57 DCR 181; Sept. 14, 2011, D.C. Law 19-21, § 9003(a), 58 DCR 6226.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Temporary Amendments of Section

For temporary (225 day) amendment of section, see § 2 of the District of Columbia Consumer Protection Fund Temporary Amendment Act of 2007 (D.C. Law 17- 34, October 18, 2007, law notification 54 DCR 10704).

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90-day) addition of section, see § 1402(f) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13-376, July 24, 2000, 47 DCR 6574).

For temporary (90 day) addition of section, see § 1402(f) of the Fiscal Year 2001 Budget Support Congressional Review Emergency Act of 2000 (D.C. Act 13- 438, October 20, 2000, 47 DCR 8740).

For temporary (90 day) addition of section, see § 2(b) of Residential Water Lead Level Test Emergency Act of 2004 (D.C. Act 15-436, May 25, 2004, 51 DCR 5953).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2 of District of Columbia Consumer Protection Fund Emergency Amendment Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-64, June 28, 2007, 54 DCR 7046).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 3023 of Fiscal Year 2008 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-74, July 25, 2007, 54 DCR 7549).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 2 of District of Columbia Consumer Protection Fund Congressional Review Emergency Act of 2007 (D.C. Act 17-138, October 17, 2007, 54 DCR 10729).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 3002 of Fiscal Year 2010 Budget Support Second Emergency Act of 2009 (D.C. Act 18-207, October 15, 2009, 56 DCR 8234).

For temporary (90 day) amendment of section, see § 3002 of Fiscal Year Budget Support Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2009 (D.C. Act 18-260, January 4, 2010, 57 DCR 345).

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 13-172, see notes following § 28-3901.

For Law 16-237, see notes following § 28-3851.

Law 17-20, the "Fiscal Year 2008 Budget Support Act of 2007", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-148 which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on May 15, 2007, and June 5, 2007, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on June 28, 2007, it was assigned Act No. 17-63 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-20 became effective on September 18, 2007.

Law 17-68, the "District of Columbia Consumer Protection Fund Act of 2007", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 17-214 which was referred to the Committee on Public Safety and Judiciary. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on October 23, 2007, and November 6, 2007, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on November 19, 2007, it was assigned Act No. 17-180 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 17-68 became effective on January 23, 2008.

Law 18-111, the "Fiscal Year 2010 Budget Support Act of 2009", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 18-203, which was referred to the Committee on the Whole. The bill was adopted on first and second readings on May 12, 2009, and September 22, 2009, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on December 18, 2009, it was assigned Act No. 18-255 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 18-111 became effective on March 3, 2010.

Law 19-21, the "Fiscal Year 2012 Budget Support Act of 2011", was introduced in Council and assigned Bill No. 19-203, which was referred to the Committee of the Whole. The Bill was adopted on first and second readings on May 25, 2011, and June 14, 2011, respectively. Signed by the Mayor on July 22, 2011, it was assigned Act No. 19-98 and transmitted to both Houses of Congress for its review. D.C. Law 19-21 became effective on September 14, 2011.

Editor's Notes

Section 9052(b) of D.C. Law 19-21 purported to amended this section which was repealed by section 9003(a) of Law 19-21.

Miscellaneous Notes

Short title: Section 3001 of D.C. Law 18-111 provided that subtitle A of title III of the act may be cited as the "Consumer Protection Funds Act of 2009".

#### § 28-3912. SUBMISSIONS TO THE COUNCIL.

The Department shall, in coordination with the Office of the Attorney General, submit 2 plans to the Council:

- (1) A detailed plan for fiscal year 2006 on the steps that the Department shall take in providing consumer protection education in the District, including the dissemination of information regarding legal options through the Department and before the Office of the Attorney General and the Courts, to be submitted by September 1, 2005; and
- (2) A plan to fully implement this subchapter in fiscal year 2007, including any recommended amendments to this subchapter, to be submitted by February 1, 2006, in anticipation of the fiscal year 2007 budget.

(Oct. 20, 2005, D.C. Law 16-33, § 2032(f), 52 DCR 7503.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2032(f) of Fiscal Year 2006 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2005 (D.C. Act 16-168, July 26, 2005, 52 DCR 7667).

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 16-33, see notes following § 28-3901.

#### § 28-3913. RULES.

The Mayor may issue rules necessary to carry out this chapter. Rules proposed pursuant to this section shall be submitted to the Council for a 45-day period of review, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, legal holidays, and days of Council recess. If the Council does not approve or disapprove the proposed rules, in whole or in part, by resolution, within this 45-day review period, the proposed rules shall be deemed disapproved.

(Oct. 20, 2005, D.C. Law 16-33, § 2032(f), 52 DCR 7503.)

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Emergency Act Amendments

For temporary (90 day) addition, see § 2032(f) of Fiscal Year 2006 Budget Support Emergency Act of 2005 (D.C. Act 16-168, July 26, 2005, 52 DCR 7667).

Legislative History of Laws

For Law 16-33, see notes following § 28-3901.